1970

State of Utah v. Robert Joseph Smelser : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Appellant was charged with grand larceny occurring in Utah County, Utah, January 27, 1969.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter was tried by jury before the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, Judge of the Fourth Judicial District, on May 12, 1969. The case was submitted to the

jury, which returned a verdict of guilty of the crime of grand larceny. The court denied defendant's Motion for New Trial and sentenced the defendant to the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the conviction and the judgment thereon and for an order dismissing the case or granting him a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 27, 1969, the Gene Evans Pharmacy, Provo, Utah, was burglarized, with watches, cash and others items being taken. Their value is in excess of \$50.00.

Twenty-three days later, on February 19, 1969, N. W. Hayward, a Salt Lake County Deputy Sheriff, applied in the Salt Lake County District Court for a warrant authorizing him to search the home of defendant at 1082 South 6th West, Salt Lake City, Utah, for the property stolen in the pharmacy burglary. The warrant issued, search made, property seized from the defendant's home, and returned to the issuing magistrate, Stewart Hanson. (R 32A, 32B). Two days later the defendant was charged in this case in Utah County. (R 4).

At the preliminary hearing the search warrant and its fruits were not used. Defendant was bound over to trial on the testimony of Gene Evans, owner of the pharmacy, that there had been a burglary and larceny, and the testimony of Max Weenig that he had been in the Utah County Jail while the defendant was awaiting bond, and that the defendant had told him he had committed the subject crime. (R 3).

Before trial of the case, defendant made a Motion to Suppress Evidence. (R 10-16, 28-30). This Motion was denied without consideration of its merits because the search warrant and affidavit, not having been placed in evidence at the preliminary hearing, and the State being unwilling to concede at the Motion to Suppress Evidence Hearing that it intended to use them, the court had no warrant nor affidavit before it to rule upon. (Tr. P6, L17-30).

At the trial, before the opening statements, defense counsel asked the district attorney if he would use the subject search warrant and affidavit and the fruits of the search. The district attorney said yes, and then introduced Officer Hayward's affidavit and Judge Hanson's warrant. Defense counsel consented to this for the purpose of identifying the documents preparatory to a Motion to Suppress. The Motion was then made and denied by the court. During these proceedings the jury was not present. (Tr. P4, L2-P16, L9).

Gene Evans testified for the prosecution that he was owner of the Evans Pharmacy in Utah County,

that it had been burglarized on January 27, 1969, that certain items including paper money stapled together, silver coins in money wrappers and Timex watches had been taken. He identified Exhibit 3, a money wrapper, as possibly having come from his store. (Tr. P18, L25-Tr. P22, L2). He identified 10 twenty-dollar bills, which had perforations that might be staple marks, as being similar to bills he had had in the pharmacy that were taken in the burglary. He also identified mass-produced Timex watches, Exhibit 6, as being the same kind taken from him in the burglary. (Tr. P26, L3-Tr. P27, L27).

Evelyn Morgan Austill was called by the prosecution and testified that she had been a clerk at the pharmacy at the time of the burglary. She identified the coin wrappers as bearing her handwriting and the money and watches as being similar to those carried at the pharmacy. (Tr. P34, L5-P35, L5; Tr. 32, L2-9).

Officer Hayward testified for the prosecution. He said that he was a Salt Lake County Deputy Sheriff, that he obtained a search warrant, based on his affidavit, from the Third District Court, that he searched the defendant's home on February 19, 1969, in Salt Lake County, Utah, and that the items identified previously by Mr. Evans and Mrs. Austill were items he had found in his search of defendant's home. (Hayward Tr. P11, L24-P17, L10). Officer Hayward testified that he asked the defendant if he had anything to say about the items at his home and that the defendant replied that he had nothing to say. (Hayward Tr.

P19, L3-21). Officer Hayward further testified that to his knowledge, defendant, defendant's wife and their children all resided together at that same home. (Hayward Tr. P20, L9-11).

The search warrant issued based on the statement in Officer Hayward's deposition and affidavit in support of the application for warrant that an informant had made a buy of property identified as being stolen from the Evans Pharmacy from the defendant, and that this buy had been made at the request of Dave Reynolds, of the State Department of Business Regulation. (R 32A, second sheet). On cross examination Officer Hayward admitted that he didn't know whether the informant had made the purchase before or after the informant had talked to Mr. Reynolds. (Hayward Tr. P7, L28-P8, L6). He also testified that he hadn't seen the item himself and didn't personally know how it connected to the burglary, although Mr. Reynolds had advised him that there was a connection. (Hayward Tr. P9, L12-16; P9, L22-P10, L8).

At the conclusion of Officer Hayward's testimony, defense counsel moved the court suppress the evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant because Officer Hayward's testimony showed a new, and vital, defect in the affidavit. If the "buy" was not made under law officer direction and control, then the circumstances under which the "buy" was made, or the reliability of the informant, became crucial to the existence of probable cause. This motion was denied and the case continued. (Hayward Tr. P10, L15-P11, L13).

Max Weenig testified for the prosecution. He had been an inmate of the Utah County Jail during the few days that defendant was there between his arrest and his posting bail. He testified that defendant told him several times in detail how he had committed the subject burglary and larceny. (Tr. P37, L10-P39, L24).

On cross examination Mr. Weenig admitted that he was serving a one-year term in the Utah County Jail as a result of a felony probation violation (Weenig Tr. P2, L15-P5, L2) and testified that he was giving information not as a result of promises or threats on the part of any law enforcement officer. He testified that he himself volunteered to "pump" the defendant without being asked to do so. (Weenig Tr. P12, L14-28). When defense counsel sought to examine him as to an ulterior motive for falsifying the court flatly disallowed the line of questioning. (Weenig Tr. P22, L2-19).

The defendant did not take the stand and called no witnesses in his behalf.

The prosecution introduced no physical evidence such as fingerprints, clothing or eyewitnesses to connect the defendant to the crime. The State's case rests entirely on possession 24 days later plus admissions to a fellow jail mate.

POINT I

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY REFUSING TO ALLOW EXAMINATION OF MAX WEENIG AS TO HIS MOTIVES FOR TESTIFYING.

No issue of police force or promises was involved because Mr. Weenig volunteered to to “pump” the defendant. (Weenig Tr. P12, L14-28). The issue was not external, such as threats or promises, but internal, his hope of gain.

Mr. Weenig was not an ordinary, uneducated criminal; he was a former businessman. In fact, he had run his own business in the same building where the Evans Pharmacy was located and knew the premises intimately. (Weenig Tr. P14, L12-P15, L1). Mr. Weenig was serving a one-year Utah County Jail sentence for probation violation starting in December 1968, and with 10 months still to go, when Mr. Smelser was also at the jail. (Weenig Tr. P2, L16-P3, L25).

Mr. Weenig knew the premises of the Evans Pharmacy. The story of the means and route of the burglary had been in the Provo newspapers and, of course, talked about within the jail. It is entirely possible that his testimony was based on this knowledge, without defendant ever having talked to Mr. Weenig about the matter. He did err, for example, on an important point that might have been only within the knowledge of the actual burglar: Mr. Weenig testified that the

defendant told him the bulk of the loot was in \$20.00 bills and the total cash taken was \$7,800.00, not \$5,700.00, as alleged in the complaint. (Weenig Tr. P5, L10-18). In fact, the bulk of the loot was forty \$100.00 bills and the total was \$5,700.00. (Tr. 21, L25-28).

Why did Mr. Weenig volunteer to “pump” the defendant? From defense counsel’s experience, he has been advised that “squealers” are not entirely safe among their fellow inmates. It is also possible that a “squealer” might gain favor by being an informant on his fellow inmates. Mr. Weenig might have hoped to save 10 months in jail by giving information against the defendant. If that were the case, whether he actually got information from the defendant, or only said that he had in a plausible fashion, either way he could have a genuine hope of gain. The court flatly refused to allow examination of Mr. Weenig on this point:

“Q Now you say you saw the Deputy Sheriff, Mack Holley, and said you thought you could pump information out of Smelser on this burglary, right?

A Yes, sir.

Q Have you been in the habit of reporting to the authorities on what prisoners tell you?

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q. (By Mr. King) You had a reason for doing —for talking to Mack Holley, didn’t you?

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q (By Mr. King) Did you hope to gain something by telling the authorities—

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. You are arguing to the jury now, Mr. King. This isn't the time yet for that. There will be a time for that, but not now, with this witness."

(Weenig Tr. P22, L2-19).

The court misconstrued the thrust of the questions. Because there was no claim that the witness was acting under coercion or promises, the court apparently felt that concluded inquiry into his motives for testifying. However, there was another equally pertinent area going directly to the credibility of the witness, as stated in Jones on Evidence, 5th Edition, Vol. 4, Sec. 916, P. 1717, "The rule is well settled that, on cross examination, questions which tend to impeach the impartiality of the witness, while not directly relevant to the issue on trial, are relevant in the sense that the persuasive quality is affected by the discrediting testimony." Jones continues on to draw the line of judicial discretion not as to the right to cross examine as to motive, but only as to the extent of the cross-examination, "Frequently, it has been held to be error not to permit cross-examination as to the state of feelings or bias of the witness. But a question as to the extent of such cross-exami-

nation is to be resolved in view of the discretion of the court.” (ibid P. 1722). The flat error of the trial court was in refusing to allow *any* cross-examination as to self-interest on the part of the witness. Mr. Weenig was not a cumulative witness. There was no connection between the defendant and the crime of larceny as opposed to possible possession, other than the testimony of Mr. Weenig, so he was a vital witness.

78-24-1 UCA 1953, provides “*who may be witnesses—jury to judge credibility. . . .* Neither parties nor other persons who have an interest in the event of an action or proceeding are excluded; . . . although, in every case the credibility of the witness may be drawn in question, by the manner in which he testifies, by the character of his testimony, or by evidence affecting his character for truth, honesty, or integrity, *or by his motives*, or by contradictory evidence; and the jury are the exclusive judges of this credibility.”

“The interest of a witness in any particular case in which he becomes a witness *may always be shown*, and the effect, if any, of such interest upon the weight of the testimony, is always a question for the jury. *State v. Cerar*, 60 U 208, 220, 207 P. 597.

The error of the court in not allowing cross-examination as to motive was prejudicial error, because the credibility of the witness was crucial, and a proper examination into his motives might well have effected the outcome of the case. *State v. Neal*, 1 U 2d 122, 262 P. 2d 756, 759; *State v. Cluff*, 48 U 102, 158 P. 701; *Jensen v. Utah Ry. Co.*, 72 U 366, 270 P. 349.

POINT 2

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION NUMBER 7 CONSTITUTED A COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE, CONSTITUTING PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY STATING “. . . HAVING REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO SHOW THAT HIS POSSESSION WAS HONESTLY ACQUIRED, HE REFUSES OR FAILS TO DO SO, SUCH CONDUCT IS A CIRCUMSTANCE THAT TENDS TO SHOW HIS GUILT.”

“76-38-1. Definition.—Larceny is the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading or driving away the personal property of another. *Possession of property recently stolen, when the person in possession fails to make a satisfactory explanation, shall be deemed prima facie evidence of guilt.*”

Instruction no. 7. “The mere possession of stolen property, howsoever soon after the taking, unexplained by the person having possession is not sufficient to justify conviction. It is, however, a circumstance to be considered in connection with other evidence in determining the question of innocence or guilt. If you should find from the evidence that the property involved in this case was stolen, and that thereafter the defendant was found in possession or claimed to be the owner of the stolen property, *such a fact would be a circumstance tending in some degree to show guilt*, although not sufficient, standing alone and unsupported by other evidence, to warrant finding him guilty. In addition to

proof of possession of such property there must be proof of corroborating circumstances tending, of themselves, to establish guilt. Such corroborating circumstances may consist of the acts, conduct, falsehood, if any, or other declaration, if any, of the defendant or any other proved circumstance tending to show the guilt of the accused.

One who is found in the possession of stolen property *is bound to explain such possession in order to remove the effect of that fact as a circumstance*, to be considered with all other evidence, *pointing to his guilt*, and if he gives a false account of how he acquired that possession or, *having reasonable opportunity to show that his possession was honestly acquired, he refuses or fails to do so, such conduct is a circumstance that tends to show his guilt.*" (Emphasis added) (R. 22).

The purpose of the underlined section of the statute is to allow the court to determine as a matter of law if the state has made a prima facie case. If the state has, the case goes to the jury. If the state has not, the case does not go to the jury. However, an instruction, thrice repeated, constituting a comment on the evidence by the court, that unexplained recent possession "is a circumstance that tends to show his guilt," goes beyond statutory authority. It is error to instruct the jury on the question of what constitutes a prima facie case.

State v. Crowder, 114 U 202, 197 P. 2d 917. "This statute is addressed only to the court, it determines for the court what evidence is sufficient to constitute

a prima facie case, and it is the duty of the court when a prima facie case has been made to submit it to the jury, but it does not require the court to instruct the jury that such facts constitute a prima facie case. The jury is not concerned with that problem, they are only concerned with whether all of the evidence is sufficiently convincing of defendant's guilt. This court has repeatedly held that it is error to instruct the jury on that question."

Here the court's instruction states unequivocally "such a fact to be a circumstance tending in some degree to show guilt," "such conduct is a circumstance that tends to show his guilt," and, the defendant "is bound to explain such possession in order to remove the effect of that fact as a circumstance, to be considered with all other evidence, pointing to his guilt." These are comments on the evidence. These do carry to the jury the prima facie case that is reserved to the court as a matter of law. The only other evidence, other than possession, connecting the defendant to the crime was not eyewitness, nor physical, such as fingerprints, but only the highly questionable testimony of Max Weenig. In *State v. Crowder*, supra, while the court affirmed the conviction, it went on to say "were the evidence of guilt susceptible to considerable doubt, it is not at all certain that the giving of such an instruction would not be prejudicial."

As another issue within this point, recent case holdings have made it clear that a defendant is not required

to give evidence against himself at any stage of any criminal proceeding, either before or after his arrest. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 US 436, 86 S Ct 1602, 16 L Ed 2d 694. The statute in question states that a person who “fails to make a satisfactory explanation shall be deemed prima facie.” The statute does not say that no explanation is an unsatisfactory explanation. In this case, the defendant made no explanation. (Hayward Tr. P19, L5-21). To hold that no explanation is an unsatisfactory explanation is to require self-incrimination. If a defendant voluntarily gives a statement, and the statement is false, the statute would apply. No Utah case deals specifically with a “no explanation” case under the present statute. *State v. Hart*, 10 U 204, 37 P. 331, was a decision before the present statute was enacted. Nevertheless, it bears on point, holding that the state needs (1) recent possession and (2) an unsatisfactory explanation. *State v. Hart*, has been cited with approval in Utah cases since enactment of the statute in its present form, such as *State v. Nichols*, 106 U 104, 145 P.2d 802. In this case we have four factors: First, the defendant shared possession of his home with his wife and children. Second, he was found in possession twenty-four days later. Third, he gave no false or inconsistent explanation as required by *Hart*, supra. Fourth, there was no other corroborating evidence except *Weenig*.

It was error for the court to instruct the jury three times as to the inference of guilt. Whether the error was prejudicial, from the Utah rulings seems to depend

on the circumstances of the case. With the existing circumstances and factors, such error is prejudicial in nature, because without such an instruction, the jury might have well reached a different verdict, and this is a basic test of prejudicial error. *State v. Cluff*, *supra*; *Jensen v. Utah Ry. Co.*, *supra*.

POINT 3

THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN THE SEARCH OF DEFENDANT'S HOME SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED BECAUSE THE AFFIDAVIT ON WHICH THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS ISSUED WAS INADEQUATE TO STATE PROBABLE CAUSE.

Evidence obtained in a search should be suppressed if the search warrant issued upon an affidavit inadequate to state probable cause. *State v. Jasso*, 21 U 2d 24, 439 P.2d 844.

It is conceded at the outset that the affidavit need not be finely technical, it can incorporate reliable hearsay and observations of others than the affiant, but it must state fact. No case sets this forth better than a 1939 Utah case, *Allen v. Lindbeck*, 97 U 471, 93 P.2d 920. In that case, the court was called upon to decide squarely a definition of probable cause because it was faced with a statute under which a search warrant issued, but the requirements of the statute were slightly less than the requirements of the Utah Constitution.

(95-2-10 Utah Laws 1933, as opposed to Article I, Sec. 14, Utah Constitution). The court stated, 97 Utah at 481, "The whole case upon which a search warrant issues must be made by him who prays for such writ. The judicial officer before whom an application for a search warrant is filed must exercise his judicial power to determine whether or not the warrant shall issue; such judicial function can be moved only by the facts brought before him, which are under oath or affirmation. A warrant to search and seize, which follows upon a statement based solely upon the belief of the affiant, rests upon the reasoning of the affiant, based upon the secret facts of which he may have knowledge, and the conclusions which result from such reasoning are affiant's not those of the judicial officer. The judicial process to ascertain probable cause is then transferred from the judicial officer to the affiant. The Constitution permits no such thing."

Applying the rule that the affidavit must state facts and magistrate draw the conclusions, the affidavit in the case now before the court states "your affiant is now and has been for the past 15 years assigned to the Detective Detail thereof.

"On the date of February 19, 1969, at approximately 9:00 a.m., your affiant (received information from) Dave Reynolds, who received the information from a confidential informant that items on the attached list are in the possession of Robert Smelser at the aforementioned address. Dave Reynolds, Dept .of Business

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