1970

State of Utah v. Robert Joseph Smelser : Respondent's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant was convicted by a jury of the crime of grand larceny in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen, Judge, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The matter was tried May 12, 1969. The case was submitted to the jury, which returned a verdict of guilty of the crime of grand larceny. The Court denied appellant's motion for a new trial and sentenced the defendant to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term as provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent prays that this court will affirm the trial court below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent accepts the facts as stated in appellant's brief as being fairly representative of the situation and circumstances surrounding this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MAX WEENIG THAT WAS BY ITS NATURE ARGUMENTATIVE.

The appellant contends reversible error, alleging that the trial court denied him the right to cross-examine Mr. Max Weenig, a witness for the prosecution, as to his motives for testifying as he did on direct examination.

The respondent admits that cross-examination of a witness is a matter of right, *Alford v. United States*, 282 U.S. 687, 691 (1931); that such examination may be designed to expose the motives of the witness for testifying as he did on direct examination, Utah Code Ann. § 78-24-1 (1953); and that such exposure properly goes to the credibility of the witness's direct testimony.

However, cross-examination must comport with proper judicial standards. The trial court is vested with

wide discretion in controlling the scope and manner of cross-examination, and in order to find error the reviewing court must find an abuse of that discretion, *State v. Bustamante*, 103 Ariz. 551, 447 P.2d 243 (1968); *State v. Jackson*, 201 Kan. 795, 443 P.2d 279 (1968); *State v. Kinder*, 14 Utah 2d 199, 381 P.2d 82 (1963). Moreover, a trial court that disallows argumentative questions on cross-examination has not abused that discretion, *State v. Eichman*, 69 Wash. 2d 327, 418 P.2d 418 (1966).

The dialogue the appellant is challenging is on page 22 of the Weenig transcript and is quoted as follows:

Q. Now you say you saw the Deputy Sheriff, Mack Holley, and said you thought you could pump information out of Smelser on this burglary, right?

D. Yes, Sir.

Q. Have you been in the habit of reporting to the authorities on what prisoners tell you?

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q. (by Mr. King) You had a reason for doing —for talking to Mack Holley, didn't you?

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q. (by Mr. King) Did you hope to gain something by telling the authorities.

MR. GAMMON: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. You are arguing to the jury now, Mr. King. This isn't the time yet for that. There will be a time for that, but not now, with this witness.

It is clear from the foregoing dialogue that the questions asked the appellant on cross-examination were argumentative in nature. Thus, the trial court properly acted within its discretion in sustaining the State's objections against them.

The transcript shows that the trial court made every effort, within sound judicial discretion, to allow defense counsel the scope of cross-examination he required. On Page 4 of said transcript we read:

THE COURT: I don't mean to cut you off on questioning about promises or threats, but further inquiry into his criminal record, I will cut you off. I think that is the law of this State.

MR. KING: Yes, your Honor, I intend to comply with that. I would like to in-

quire into his mental attitude, if he hopes to gain.

Later on page 16, the following dialogue occurred:

MR. GAMMON: We would object your Honor. This line of questioning has no relevancy to the matter before the Court.

THE COURT: What do you claim for this Mr. King? What bearing does this have on the matter before the Court?

MR. KING: I think, your Honor, that Mr. Weenig has his own personal familiarity with this premises and this isn't information he gained from Mr. Smelser.

THE COURT: Well, I will let that answer remain.

Later on page 18 of the transcript the trial court allowed repetitive questions and answers on cross-examination. Then on page 19, in response to a State's objection, the court said:

THE COURT: I am reluctant to cut anybody off on cross-examination, so I will let him answer the question.

However, on several occasions during the cross-examination the Court sustained the State's objections on the grounds that counsel's questions were argumentative (Weenig T. p. 18, 20, 21, 22).

It is clear from the general tenor of the entire cross-examination that the judge was reluctant to inhibit counsel in his cross-examination. However, where the nature of questions were argumentative, the trial judge acted properly, and within his discretion, when he sustained the State's objections.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING JURY INSTRUCTION NUMBER SEVEN.

The pertinent part of instruction number seven is quoted in appellant's brief pages 11 & 12. The appellant challenges the instruction on two grounds: (1) that it is an unlawful comment on the evidence by the Court, and (2) that it breaches the appellant's constitutional right against self-incrimination.

A. JURY INSTRUCTION NUMBER SEVEN WAS NOT AN UNLAWFUL COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE

Utah Code Ann. § 76-38-1 (1953) defines larceny as follows:

"Larceny is the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading or driving away the personal property of another. Possession of property recently stolen, when the person in possession fails to make a satisfactory explanation, shall be deemed prima facie evidence of guilt."

The appellant challenges the instruction on grounds of it being an unlawful comment by alleging that it instructs the jury on the prima facie case of larceny. He further argues that the foregoing statute defining larceny is a standard by which the Court may determine whether or not the case should go to the jury, and therefore, should not be incorporated as part of a jury instruction. He cites *State v. Crowder*, 114 Utah 202, 197 P.2d 917 (1948) as authority for his argument.

The challenged instruction in *Crowder* is as follows:

“ . . . If you find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt (1) that some one had committed larceny; (2) that defendant was found in possession of recently stolen property; (3) that the defendant failed to give a satisfactory explanation, then there is an *inference* that the defendant committed larceny, and that inference beyond that of other evidence be considered in determining whether you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of defendant's guilt.” 114 Utah at 209. (Emphasis added.)

This Court found the foregoing instruction faulty on two grounds. FIRST, the instruction tells the jury what constitutes a prima facie case, and SECOND, because the instruction invited the jury to give special attention to the “unexplained possession” evidence. *Id* at 209 and 210.

These frailties are not present in the instant case. The instruction is clear that “unexplained possession” of contraband is merely prima facie evidence of guilt, not a prima facie case of guilt. This distinction has been

sustained by this Court in *State v. Potello*, 40 Utah 56, 119 P. 1023 (1911).

Moreover, the instruction does not set out the "unexplained possession" evidence as having greater probity than other evidence, as was the case in the *Crowder* instruction. Rather, the instruction emphasizes that the "unexplained possession" testimony merely *tends* to show guilt and should thus be considered by the jury along with all other facts and circumstances of the case. This comports with the construction of the Utah Statute, *supra*, by this Court. *State v. Wood*, 2 Utah 2d 34, 268 P.2d 998 (1954).

This Court, in *State v. Little*, 5 Utah 2d 42, 296 P.2d 289 (1956), held an instruction valid which is almost identical to in the instruction now being challenged by the appellant. In so doing, this Court said:

"The first paragraph follows the statute, U.C.A. 1953 § 76-38-1, and the decided cases, *State v. Crowder* (citations omitted); *State v. Hall* (citations omitted)." 5 Utah 2d at 44.

In view of the case law in this State, it is clear that instruction seven was not an unlawful comment on the evidence by the trial court.

B. JURY INSTRUCTION NUMBER SEVEN DID NOT VIOLATE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.

The appellant urges that the instruction given in

the instant case is the equivalent of an instruction that the jury may draw inferences as to the guilt of the accused from his silence. While it is true that comment directly on the defendant's failure to testify is not permissible, such comment is not the equivalent of the instruction in the present case.

The United States Supreme Court has sustained such a distinction in *United States v. Gainey*, 380 U.S. 63 (1965). In this case the Court rejected defendant's argument that an instruction, similar to the one in the instant case, was deemed to be a comment on the defendant's failure to testify:

"Furthermore, in the content of the instruction as a whole, we do not consider that the single phrase, unless the defendant by the evidence in the case and by proven facts and circumstances explains such presence to the satisfaction of the jury, can be fairly understood as a comment on the petitioner's failure to testify." 380 U.S. at 70 and 71.

United States v. Secondino, 347 F.2d 725 (2nd Cir. 1965), cert. den., 382 U.S. 931 (1965), reh. den., 382 U.S. 1002 (1966), relied on the *Gainey* case and specifically held that an instruction similar to the one in the instant case is not a violation of one's constitutional right against self-incrimination.

In the *Secondino* case the defendant had appealed his conviction on a narcotics charge. The trial court had read the actual provisions of the narcotics statute to the jury, which allowed them (the jury) to draw an inference

of guilt from evidence of "unexplained possession." The instruction challenged was:

"Whenever on trial for violation of this section the defendant is shown to have or to have had possession of the narcotic drug, such possession shall be deemed sufficient evidence to authorize conviction *unless* the defendant explains the possession to the satisfaction of the jury." (Emphasis added.) 347 F.2d at 727.

The appellate Court then pointed out that the trial court:

". . . followed this with the *wholly* adequate instruction that a finding of possession, not explained permits you to draw the inference and find . . . that the defendant had knowledge that the narcotic drug was imported contrary to law." (Emphasis added.) 347 F.2d at 727.

Whereupon the Court rejected appellant's argument that the challenged instruction violated his constitutional right against self-incrimination. 347 F.2d 725, 727. See also *Brown v. United States*, 370 F.2d 874 (1967).

This Court has repeatedly held Utah Code Ann. § 76-38-1 (1953) constitutional, as well as jury instructions pursuant thereto. *State v. Martinez*, 21 Utah 2d 187, 442 P.2d 943 (1968). The Tenth Circuit has concurred with this holding. *State v. Martinez*, No. 110-68, July 1969 Term (10th Cir. July 15, 1969).

It is clear from the foregoing that appellant's contention that instruction seven denies him of his constitutional right against self-incrimination is without merit.

POINT III

THE AFFIDAVIT UPON WHICH THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS ISSUED CLEARLY STATED FACTS SUFFICIENT TO SHOW PROBABLE CAUSE.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-54-3 (1953) establishes the grounds for the issuance of a search warrant:

“A search warrant shall not issue except upon *probable cause* supported by oath or affirmation, particularly *describing* the *place* to be searched and the person or *thing* to be *seized*.” (Emphasis added.)

The appellant challenges the search warrant in the instant case, alleging that the affidavit in support thereof is not of sufficient particularity to establish probable cause.

The United States Supreme Court in *Jones v. United States*, 362 U.S. 257 (1960), held that an affidavit must state facts upon which the belief of the affidavit is based in order to establish probable cause, 362 U.S. 257, 269; that the affiant's information may be based on hearsay information if such information is reasonably corroborated by other matters within the affiant's own knowledge, 262 U.S. 257, 269; and that the name of the informant need not be given, 262 U.S. 257, 271. See also *Rugendorf v. United States*, 376 U.S. 58 (1964) and *United States v.*

Ventresca, 380 U.S. 102 (1965). Utah law is in accord with this standard, *Allen v. Lindbeck*, 97 Utah 471, 93 P.2d 920 (1939).

In the instant case, it is clear that the challenged affidavit states facts sufficient to establish probable cause. Page one (1) of the affidavit (R. 32A) sets forth the affiant's belief that there is probable cause to suspect that the appellant had possession of certain personal property. The place of possession is described with particularity. The personal property, although not described on page one (1), nor identified as stolen, is described with particularity on a list attached to the affidavit (R. 32 A, sheets 4 and 5). Moreover, the attached sheet is identified as "Gene Evans Pharmacy, 266 North University Ave., Provo, Utah, Burglary loss. . . ." (R. 32A, sheet 4).

The appellant challenges the validity of the affidavit by alleging that the personal property believed to be in appellant's possession is not identified as the stolen property. This argument is without merit when the affidavit is read as a whole. As was mentioned above, the attached list identified the property both as to description and as to it being the stolen property. It is not necessary that this identification be on the front page. A clear reference to an attached list of property would seem to be a perfectly acceptable procedure. In the words of the appellant, "It is conceded at the outset that the affidavit need not be finely technical . . ." (Appellant's brief, P. 15). It seems appellant's objection on this point is based more on technicality than on substance.

Page 2 of the affidavit (R. 32A, sheet 2) also identifies the property as being stolen. In addition, page 2 sets

forth facts which support the affiant's belief, thus giving rise to probable cause. FIRST, the affiant is a deputy sheriff of 19 years experience. SECOND, 15 of those 19 years have been spent in the detective division. THIRD, the affiant received his information from Dave Reynolds, Department of Business Regulations, who in turn had received the information from a confidential informant. FOURTH, said Dave Reynolds had made a buy from the appellant, through his informant, and had identified the item purchased as property stolen from the Provo drug store.

There are several facts in the above four points that give rise to probable cause. The affiant was an experienced officer of the law. His source of information, Dave Reynolds, was also involved in law enforcement; i.e., business regulation. Although the item purchased through Reynolds' informant was not specifically described in the affidavit, it was sworn that Reynolds had in fact made such an identification.

The appellant challenges the affidavit because of this specific lack of identification. He asks: ". . . what *proof* is there that it was stolen other than his conclusion (affiant's conclusion)?" (appellant's brief pg. 18). However, the appellant goes too far in supposing that the affidavit must show facts that *prove* the case. The United States Supreme Court in *Jones v. United States, supra*, said:

"We reject the contention that an officer may act without a warrant only when his basis for acting would be competent evidence upon a trial to prove defendant's guilt . . . such a contention goes much too

far in confusing and disregarding the difference between what is required to prove guilt in a criminal case and what is required to show *probable cause* for arrest or *search* . . . There is a large difference between the two things to be proved (guilt and probable cause) . . . and therefore a like difference in the quanta and modes of proof required to establish them." 262 U.S. at 270

The United States Supreme Court affirmed this distinction in *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102 (1965), when it said:

" . . . this Court has long held that the term probable cause . . . means *less* than evidence which would justify condemnation. . . ." 380 U.S. at 107

In light of this standard, it seems clear and convincing that the affiant's belief was well established by facts in the affidavit, thus giving rise to probable cause. Therefore, the affidavit clearly comports with constitutional standards as a condition precedent to a search warrant and as a consequence, this Court should sustain the validity of the search warrant in the instant case.

POINT IV

THE AFFIDAVIT SUPPORTING THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS NOT IMPEACHED DURING THE TRIAL AND THUS THE COURT ACTED PROPERLY IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OBTAINED PURSUANT TO SAID SEARCH WARRANT.

The appellant alleges that Officer Hayward's affidavit was impeached on cross-examination and thus the

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